

Addressing Psychosocial and Lifestyle Risk Factors to Promote Primary Cancer Prevention: an integrated platform to promote behavioural change (iBeCHANGE)

Project Number: 101136840

D8.3 – Policy Report on Prevention Strategies

Related Work Package	WP8 - Policy Implementation, stakeholder/policy dissemination, exploitation and communication
Related Task	Task 8.3 – Evaluation of Prevention Policy Strategies
Lead Beneficiary	EAPM
Contributing Beneficiaries	IEO, UNIPA, eCancer
Document version	v1.0
Deliverable type	R
Dissemination level	PU
Due date	30/11/2024
Delivery date	06/12/2024
Authors	Denis Horgan (EAPM), Andela Skarpa (EAPM), Paola Radovnikovic (EAPM)
Contributors	Marianna Masiero (IEO), Giorgia Miale (IEO), Gabriella Pravettoni (IEO)
Reviewers	iBeChange Consortium



This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon Europe research and innovation programme under the Grant Agreement Number 101136840.

Disclaimer

Funded by the European Union. Views and opinions expressed are however those of the author(s) only and do not necessarily reflect those of the European Union or the European Health and Digital Executive Agency (HADEA). Neither the European Union nor the granting authority can be held responsible for them.



Table of Contents

Carantina Camana	C
Executive Summary	6
1. 6	
2. Prevention strategies	8
2.1 What iBeChange is doing	9
2.2 What drives behavioural change	9
2.3 Inter-relationships between actions	11
3. Methodology	12
3.1 Purpose and approach	12
3.2 Framework for evidence synthesis	12
3.3 Data sources	12
3.3.1 Literature review	12
3.3.2 Secondary data sources	12
3.4 Framework development	12
3.5 Scoring system	13
3.6 Alignment with iBeChange objectives	13
3.7 Role of the Expert Panel	13
4. Results	15
4.1 Planned contributions of the expert panel	16
5. 17	
5.1 17	
5.2 18	
6. 19	
Appendix	22

List of Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Explanation
AI	Artificial Intelligence
ВС	Behavioural Change
CVD	Cardiovascular Disease
EAPM	European Alliance for Personalised Medicine
EU	European Union
IEO	European Institute of Oncology
M	Month
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
WHO	World Health Organization
WP	Work Package
UNIPA	University of Palermo

List of Tables

Table 1. Correlation Analysis of Health Determinants in Europe (appendix)

Table 2. Abbreviations in Table 1.

Executive Summary

Cancer poses a significant public health challenge in Europe, with millions of new cases annually. The iBeChange project addresses this challenge by integrating behavioural science and innovative digital tools to develop evidence-based strategies for cancer prevention. This deliverable, D8.3 Policy Report on Prevention Strategies, evaluates the interconnections among psychological, social, environmental, emotional, and lifestyle determinants of health to propose actionable prevention strategies.

Key findings demonstrate the strong interplay between determinants such as health literacy, emotional resilience, community engagement, and access to healthy environments. These insights highlight the importance of integrated, multidisciplinary approaches to prevention. While the expert panel outlined in the project has not yet been convened, its future contributions will refine these strategies, ensuring their rigour and practical application across diverse European contexts.

This report provides policymakers with evidence-based recommendations to address root causes, promote health equity, reduce cancer risks, support Europe's Beating Cancer Plan and improve health outcomes.

1. Introduction

Not only does cancer kill tens of thousands in Europe and destroy the quality of life for millions, but the burden is likely to grow, even with increased access to better therapies. The long-term solution is to reduce the incidence of cancer by mobilising more effective approaches to prevention, actively encouraging behaviour conducive to avoiding known cancer risks and orienting health systems towards a more holistic view of cancer care¹. iBeChange has been created to give fresh impetus to the movement in this direction.

The project is bringing innovation to prevention processes, aiming to exploit new understanding of behavioural sciences and the impact that new disciplines can have on public health. The essence of the project is to shed new light on how prevention can be dramatically improved by more refined techniques of communication and more integrated approaches. With more than a million deaths a year from cancer in Europe alone and more than twice that number of diagnoses, the urgency is obvious. But the challenges in combating this modern plague speak for themselves². Although the risk factors for cancer are well-established, this knowledge is not always widely shared. And even where the risks are known and recognised, people's behaviour does not always adapt accordingly for a wide range of reasons. Nor do health systems take the fullest account of how their organisation can be better adapted to effective cancer prevention strategies³.

iBeChange is marshalling behavioural sciences to help bridge these gaps. To support the objectives of the iBeChange project and Task 8.3, a multidisciplinary expert panel is planned to be convened. This panel will include experts in psychology, oncology, public health, and data science. Their role will be to validate and refine the proposed prevention strategies, ensuring they are evidence-based, practical, and tailored to diverse population needs across Europe. This forward-looking initiative underscores the project's commitment to multidisciplinary collaboration and scientific rigour.

2. Prevention strategies

The concept of prevention is a familiar theme in public policy pronouncements, and its merits are widely reflected in the literature. It has been predicted that by implementing 100% population coverage of cervical cancer screening, an estimated reduction of over 94% of life years lost could be attained. Moreover, for every 152 pap smear tests performed, one life-year could be gained. But it is not yet firmly anchored in the reality of health policy action⁴.

A European partnership dating from 2009 aims to support the member states in their efforts to tackle cancer by providing a framework for identifying and sharing information, capacity and expertise in cancer prevention and control, and by engaging relevant stakeholders across the European Union in a collective effort to address cancer. It also aims to combat the wide national and regional variations in cancer incidence and mortality, guided by evidence-based strategies for disease prevention and control, and in a bid to avoid scattered actions and duplication of efforts so as to make the best use of limited resources. The more recent Europe's Beating Cancer Plan, which is still in the earlier phases of implementation, has a section devoted to saving lives through sustainable cancer prevention, which underlines key prevention strategies. It highlights the potential of "A modern approach to cancer: new technologies, research and innovation at the service of patient-centred cancer prevention and care", as well as "Making the most of data and digitalisation in cancer prevention and of exploiting personalised medicine for cancer prevention, diagnosis and treatment". It also emphasises the need for improving health literacy on cancer risks and determinants, reducing harmful alcohol consumption, and improving health promotion through access to healthy diets and physical activity.

In addition, the European Code Against Cancer includes the following clear injunctions: (1) do not smoke, (2) do not use any form of tobacco, (3) take action to be a healthy body weight; (4) be physically active in everyday life, (5) limit the time you spend sitting, (6) have a healthy diet, and (8) if you drink alcohol of any type, limit your intake⁶. Taken together, these actions are crucial not only for the early detection of cancer but also for the adoption of healthy behaviours that can reduce the risk of developing cancer. In this regard, the scientific community has recognised the role of behavioural change in controlling the spread of cancer and as a strategy to reduce the social and economic burden of care. However, it is imperative to translate scientific innovations and achievements in cancer prevention into clear policy recommendations that are integrated into each local and national health system.

2.1 What iBeChange is doing

iBeChange is developing health promotion and primary prevention programs that cater to the specific needs of different population groups, including individuals at high risk of developing cancer. Based on the detailed recommendations in the Beating Cancer Plan, iBeChange will develop innovative primary cancer prevention programmes through the use of novel solutions for different population groups. It will identify and address specific bottlenecks and barriers that prevent the uptake of sustainable behavioural change (BC) for different target populations. It will conduct carefully conceived public awareness campaigns about healthy behaviours and cancer prevention and create peer support networks or online communities to provide social support and accountability for individuals making sustainable changes to their behaviour⁷.

The system the project is developing will empower patients by providing them with accessible and easy-to-understand tailored recommendations, as well as support programs that promote sustainable BCs and facilitate healthier choices. The system is specifically engineered to perform optimally on affordable devices, reaching users across various demographics employing user-friendly digital tools that can be easily integrated into people's daily activities and routines. The iBeChange platform will give people feedback on their habits, including diet, physical exercise, alcohol consumption, smoking and other lifestyle factors⁸.

2.2 What drives behavioural change

The central innovation in iBeChange is its reliance on an increased understanding of human behaviour. Behavioural Sciences focus on a mix of factors: psychological, social and environmental.

From a psychological perspective, several internal and external factors are involved in shaping behaviour change and adopting healthy behaviours. Risk perception in relation to the likelihood of developing the disease, a family history of cancer, personal representations of the disease, emotional well-being and self-efficacy strategies are just some of the variables that influence **individuals' health decisions**. A better understanding can help design better health communication strategies. Social factors encompass interactions with others, adherence to cultural norms, and the provision of social support and community engagement, all of which play a critical role in promoting healthy behaviours. Environmental factors refer to the physical and social environment that influences behaviour – notably accessibility of healthy food, safe recreational spaces, and healthcare facilities⁹.



The focus of iBeChange makes a more sophisticated understanding of the impact on health and the interrelation between approaches possible. Behavioural sciences help identify why people engage in unhealthy behaviours such as smoking, poor diet, and physical inactivity. Furthermore, iBeChange contributes to enriching the scientific evidence on cancer prevention by integrating the assessment of psycho-emotional variables as potential predictors of cancer development. Coherently, interventions can be designed to encourage healthier lifestyles by addressing these underlying causes. Attempts to communicate on health more effectively benefit from behavioural science principles, allowing messages to be tailored more sensitively to different audience segments based on their behaviour and attitudes. This improves compliance with health guidelines and increases the uptake of health services – such as cancer screening, where an understanding of the barriers and motivators for different populations ensures more people undergo regular screenings, leading to early detection and better outcomes. The merit of tailored communication strategies was demonstrated during the Covid pandemic when adapted messaging helped improve adherence to mask-wearing, social distancing, and vaccination¹⁰.

Understanding how people perceive risks and benefits allows campaigns to promote healthy behaviours and encourage preventive actions more effectively. Public health programs that incorporate behavioural insights are better able to address the specific needs and preferences of different populations, permitting more successful health interventions and better health outcomes. Programs designed to manage chronic diseases like diabetes and hypertension often use behavioural insights to encourage patients to adhere to treatment plans and make lifestyle changes. Techniques from behavioural science, such as motivational interviewing and psychological-behavioural therapy, are used to improve adherence to treatment regimens. Behavioural interventions provide essential psychological support for cancer patients, helping them cope with the emotional and mental challenges of their diagnosis and treatment. Mental health programmes gain by addressing stigma, improving access to mental health services and designing interventions that promote psychological resilience and well-being. Policy development also benefits from the insights from behavioural sciences: policies providing incentives for healthy behaviours or that create environments conducive to health prove to be more effective when they are informed by an understanding of human behaviour. Health Equity is similarly served by behavioural sciences, as they help identify and address health disparities by understanding the social determinants of health - socioeconomic status, education, access, or cultural practices¹¹.

2.3 Inter-relationships between actions

The essence of successful intervention based on behavioural sciences in healthcare is to take account of the diversity of challenges so as to permit effective integration. The challenges are dominated by the complexity of human behaviour, which is influenced by numerous psychological, social, economic, and environmental factors, making it difficult to design and implement interventions that effectively address all relevant factors. In addition, individuals respond differently to the same interventions in the function of their personality, culture, and life experiences. Consequently, tailoring interventions to diverse populations requires extensive research and resources¹².

Successful interventions must also be integrated into healthcare systems, which requires a high degree of interdisciplinary collaboration across differing methodologies, terminologies, and professional cultures and can also face structural and operational barriers such as rigid protocols, limited funding, and resistance to change from healthcare professionals¹³.

Measurement and evaluation, necessary for the effectiveness of interventions, are inevitably impeded by the subjective nature of behavioural outcomes and the long time frames often required to observe changes in health behaviours. Similarly, collecting reliable and valid data on health behaviours requires robust methodologies and often large sample sizes - both resource-intensive and logistically challenging¹⁴.

Public acceptance and engagement are vital, as stigma and misconceptions associated with behavioural health interventions can be barriers too. Developing strategies to engage diverse populations in behavioural health programs is a delicate exercise requiring sensitivity to cultural preconceptions and traditions so that interventions are accessible and acceptable to all segments of the population¹⁵.

Without policy support, behavioural interventions cannot succeed, so prioritising biomedical approaches over behavioural ones may lead to insufficient funding and resources while translating behavioural science research into practice requires effective implementation strategies embracing training, ensuring fidelity to intervention protocols, and adapting interventions to local contexts¹⁶.

There are ethical considerations too, since behavioural interventions often require the collection of sensitive personal data, making it critical to ensure privacy and obtain informed consent. A concomitant need is to ensure that behavioural health interventions are equitable, neglecting no one – which also presupposes addressing social determinants of health¹⁷.

There are also factors at the technological level that have to be taken into account. The increasing use of digital health interventions poses challenges related to the digital divide, with the risk of exacerbating health disparities. The use of digital tools also inevitably raises concerns about data security and the potential for misuse of personal health information ¹⁸.

3. Methodology

3.1 Purpose and approach

This white paper aims to explore the multifaceted determinants of health outcomes, focusing on psychological, social, environmental, emotional, behavioural, policy-related, and lifestyle factors. By synthesising insights from existing evidence, the paper seeks to propose actionable strategies for behavioural change and cancer prevention. This approach supports the objectives of the iBeChange project to leverage behavioural sciences and innovative technologies for effective cancer prevention policies and programs.

3.2 Framework for evidence synthesis

To achieve its objectives, the white paper employs a structured framework for evidence synthesis. This framework enables the integration of diverse data sources and perspectives, ensuring a comprehensive understanding of health determinants and their interconnections.

3.3 Data sources

3.3.1 Literature review

A thorough review of peer-reviewed journals, conference papers, and reports was conducted, focusing on public health, epidemiology, behavioural sciences, and health policy. The review adhered to systematic principles to ensure the inclusion of high-quality and relevant studies. The goal was to identify key determinants of health and effective strategies for promoting behavioural change.

3.3.2 Secondary data sources

Data were obtained from reputable organisations, including the World Health Organization (WHO), the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), and other national and international health agencies. These validated data sources provided robust insights into health determinants across various populations and regions, ensuring alignment with the grant agreement's focus on evidence-based prevention strategies.

3.4 Framework development

Insights from the data sources were categorised into key themes: psychological, social, environmental, emotional, behavioural, policy-related, and lifestyle factors. Metrics and indicators for each determinant were identified and assessed to contextualise their impact on health outcomes. This structured approach ensures that the recommendations align with iBeChange's goals of developing innovative, population-specific cancer prevention programs.

3.5 Scoring system

A standardised scoring system was developed to facilitate consistent analysis and comparison. This system assigns values from 1 (lowest/poorest condition) to 5 (highest/best condition) across key indicators for each determinant. The scoring approach was adapted from existing methodologies and validated by referencing relevant studies, ensuring it aligns with established best practices. This system enables a clear comparison of the effectiveness of different strategies and provides actionable insights for policy development. The scoring system described here represents a preliminary framework. Future validation and refinements will be undertaken with the expert panel to enhance its applicability and alignment with the iBeChange objectives.

3.6 Alignment with iBeChange objectives

The methodological approach aligns with the iBeChange grant agreement by:

- Synthesising evidence to identify barriers to sustainable behavioural change.
- Supporting the development of innovative tools and strategies for primary prevention.
- Providing a foundation for designing tailored interventions based on determinants such as health literacy, community engagement, and access to healthcare.

3.7 Role of the Expert Panel

The iBeChange grant agreement outlines the establishment of a multidisciplinary expert panel as a critical component of Task 8.3. While the panel has not yet been organised, its role is integral to the project's long-term success. The panel will include experts from diverse fields, such as:

- Clinical psychologists integrate behavioural science insights into health interventions.
- Oncologists and epidemiologists align prevention strategies with current evidence.
- Public health specialists to ensure practical policy alignment.
- Data scientists and AI experts contribute to innovative, data-driven solutions.

The expert panel is intended to:

- Validate Frameworks: Review and refine the prevention methodologies developed under Task 8.3.
- Provide Multidisciplinary Insights: Address diverse population needs, particularly high-risk groups and underserved regions.
- Advise on Metrics: Ensure the scoring system and analysis are robust and scientifically rigorous.
- Guide Policy Recommendations: Translate findings into actionable, evidence-based policy strategies.

Although the panel has not been convened during the preparation of this deliverable, it will be instrumental in the next phases of the iBeChange project to ensure the frameworks and strategies are robust and widely applicable.



The establishment of the expert panel is a key deliverable under Task 8.3, designed to provide multidisciplinary insights that validate and refine iBeChange's prevention strategies. The expert panel will have subsequent sessions scheduled biannually until M22, ensuring alignment with the project timeline.

Planned activities include:

- Recruitment of panel members: The panel will consist of a diverse group of
 experts, including clinical psychologists, oncologists, public health specialists,
 data scientists, and patient representatives. These individuals will be selected
 to ensure a multidisciplinary approach and a comprehensive understanding of
 diverse population needs.
- 2. Topics for discussion: Initial sessions will focus on attitudes toward prevention and screening, barriers to uptake, and the psychosocial factors influencing behavioural change. Later sessions will refine these insights and address specific policy recommendations and implementation strategies.

Expected deliverables:

- Validation of the proposed scoring system and analytical frameworks.
- Recommendations on tailored interventions for diverse European populations.
- Input into the design of public health campaigns to promote prevention and screening uptake.

The expert panel will directly contribute to the project by informing key determinants of prevention strategies, especially regarding the reasons for acceptance or refusal of screening programs. This input will enrich the evidence base for policy recommendations, ensuring they are practical and tailored to real-world contexts.

4. Results

The analysis of correlations among psychological, social, environmental, emotional, behavioural, policy-related, and lifestyle factors highlights the intricate interplay influencing health outcomes. These findings underscore the importance of adopting an integrated and multidisciplinary approach to promoting health and preventing diseases such as cancer, diabetes, and cardiovascular diseases. The complete results, including all correlation values, are presented in the table that can be found in the appendix of this document.

Psychological factors, including health literacy and risk perception, exhibited strong correlations with decision-making processes (r=0.97) and social support networks (r=0.99). These associations demonstrate the critical role of informed decision-making and robust social connections in fostering healthier behaviours. Additionally, cultural norms and community engagement showed high correlations with psychological factors, indicating that interventions tailored to social and cultural contexts are likely to have a greater impact on public health outcomes.

Environmental factors, such as access to healthy foods, availability of recreational spaces, and healthcare facility access, demonstrated significant relationships with psychological and social determinants. For instance, access to healthy foods was closely associated with health literacy (r=0.98) and social support networks (r=0.99), emphasising the necessity of creating supportive environments that facilitate healthier choices. Similarly, the availability of recreational spaces was strongly linked to physical activity levels and community engagement, highlighting the importance of urban planning and infrastructure in promoting active and healthy lifestyles.

Emotional factors, including stress management and psychosocial support, were closely associated with the adoption and maintenance of healthy behaviours (r=0.98). These findings emphasise the pivotal role of emotional resilience in ensuring the success of behavioural interventions. Health programs that incorporate emotional and psychological support are more likely to achieve sustainable outcomes. Emotional well-being also enhances participation in health-promoting behaviours, making it an essential component of any comprehensive public health strategy. While these findings highlight critical correlations among health determinants, further validation is planned through the expert panel, which will strengthen the scientific rigour and adaptability of the proposed strategies.

Health policy development and resource allocation exhibited robust correlations with all other determinants, underlining their foundational role in shaping health outcomes. Effective policies that prioritise health literacy, equitable resource distribution, and the creation of supportive environments can catalyse improvements across multiple domains. Lifestyle factors, such as diet, physical activity, and sleep patterns, demonstrated strong interconnections with psychological, social, and emotional determinants. For example, physical activity was significantly correlated with the availability of recreational spaces (r



= 0.99) and emotional well-being (r = 0.98), underscoring the importance of policies and interventions that support active living and overall well-being.

The results underscore the necessity of addressing multiple determinants simultaneously to achieve meaningful improvements in public health. Integrated interventions should aim to enhance psychological literacy, foster supportive environments, and provide robust emotional and psychosocial support. Addressing these factors collectively is likely to lead to sustainable behavioural change, improved health equity, and better population health outcomes. Policymakers must consider the interconnections among these factors to design comprehensive health policies that tackle the root causes of health disparities and empower individuals to adopt healthier lifestyles.

4.1 Planned contributions of the expert panel

While the expert panel has not yet been convened, its planned contributions will play a pivotal role in subsequent phases of the iBeChange project. Insights from the panel will be integrated into future reports to provide a deeper understanding of attitudes toward cancer prevention and screening. Specifically, the panel will:

- Validate findings from current analyses of health determinants.
- Inform strategies to address psychosocial and behavioural barriers to screening uptake.
- Guide the refinement of prevention policies based on real-world applicability and population-specific needs.

These contributions will be documented in subsequent deliverables to ensure the continuity and rigour of the project's outputs.



5. Discussion

5.1 Correlations and interconnections

An exploration of the relationships between determinants of health outcomes reveals eloquent correlations in the interconnections, implying intricate interplay between psychological, social, environmental, emotional, behavioural, policy-related, and lifestyle factors. The domains examined encompass elements as diverse as risk perception and communication, health literacy, decision-making processes, social support networks, cultural norms and practices, community engagement, accessibility to healthy foods, availability of recreational spaces, healthcare facility access, stress and coping mechanisms, emotional well-being, psychosocial support, the effectiveness of behavioural interventions, adoption and maintenance of healthy behaviours, behavioural health program participation, health policy development, resource allocation, impact of legislation on health behaviours, diet and nutrition, physical activity, substance use, and sleep patterns¹⁹.

A notably high correlation across the various factors indicates a very strong positive relationship between almost all the factors, suggesting that improvements in one factor tend to be associated with improvements in others. For instance, enhancing health literacy is strongly correlated with better decision-making processes and higher accessibility to healthy foods²⁰.

Health literacy and risk perception exhibit a high correlation with social support networks and cultural norms, demonstrating the interdependence between individual knowledge and the social environment in managing health behaviours. Essentially, psychological aspects such as health literacy are not only vital on their own but are deeply influenced by and influential to social dynamics such as support networks and cultural norms. This interconnectedness suggests that interventions aimed at improving health outcomes should address both psychological and social elements to be more effective²¹.

High correlations between environmental factors such as the accessibility of healthy foods and the availability of recreational spaces also show high correlations with almost all other factors. This underscores **the importance of a supportive environment in promoting healthy behaviours and overall well-being**. For instance, improving the availability of healthy foods and recreational spaces can lead to better health outcomes by fostering an environment that supports healthy living. This strong correlation emphasises the need for policies and interventions that enhance environmental conditions to achieve broader health improvements²².

Emotional well-being and stress coping mechanisms are highly correlated with the effectiveness and adoption of behavioural interventions, implying that emotional health plays a crucial role in the success of behavioural health programs. Effective coping mechanisms and emotional support can significantly enhance the adoption and maintenance of healthy behaviours, suggesting that emotional and psychological support should be integral components of health interventions. By addressing emotional factors, health programs can improve their efficacy and sustainability²³.

Health policy has also been shown to have significant implications in shaping health outcomes. Health policy development and resource allocation are strongly correlated with all other factors, indicating that effective health policies are integral to improving health literacy, environmental accessibility, and emotional well-being. Effective resource allocation and supportive legislation can create an environment conducive to better health outcomes²⁴.

Lifestyle factors, including diet and nutrition, physical activity, substance use, and sleep patterns, exhibit strong correlations with emotional, social, and environmental factors. This suggests that lifestyle choices are influenced by a complex interplay of psychological, emotional, and environmental conditions. For instance, dietary habits and physical activity levels can be significantly influenced by emotional well-being, social support, and the availability of recreational spaces. **Understanding these interdependencies is crucial for designing effective lifestyle interventions that promote healthy behaviours and prevent diseases**²⁵.

These correlations highlight the importance of integrating diverse determinants into health policy design to address root causes and foster impactful, long-term health improvements. The intricate interrelationship between factors suggests that a holistic approach to disease prevention and health promotion can be more effective than a piecemeal approach, especially for cancer. A better understanding of the interconnectedness of these factors permits public health strategies to better address the root causes of health disparities. Improvements in areas such as health literacy or social support can also positively impact overall health outcomes²⁶.

5.2 Focuses for action

Policymakers should leverage these strong correlations when designing health policies, while the expert panel's future validation will reinforce the robustness of these recommendations, ensuring their effectiveness across diverse European contexts. An integrated approach addressing multiple factors simultaneously offers the chance of greater effectiveness in disease prevention and management. For example, policies that enhance health literacy and improve access to healthy foods can also positively impact emotional well-being and reduce stress, thereby leading to better health outcomes. Programs aimed at improving health outcomes should adopt a multidisciplinary approach, addressing various determinants of health to achieve more effective results. Effective health policy development, coupled with strategic resource allocation, can significantly influence various health determinants and improve population health outcomes. Interventions tailored to specific community and cultural contexts may yield better results in promoting healthy lifestyles and managing diseases. Understanding the cultural and community-specific factors can enhance the effectiveness of health interventions and policies²⁷.

6. References

- 1. Cheatley J, Aldea A, Lerouge A, Devaux M, Vuik S, Cecchini M. Tackling the cancer burden: the economic impact of primary prevention policies. Mol Oncol. 2021 Mar;15(3):779-789. doi: 10.1002/1878-0261.12812. Epub 2020 Oct 18. PMID: 33021030; PMCID: PMC7931126.
- 2. Serrano D, Bonanni B, Brown K. Therapeutic cancer prevention: achievements and ongoing challenges a focus on breast and colorectal cancer. Mol Oncol. 2019 Mar;13(3):579-590. doi: 10.1002/1878-0261.12461. Epub 2019 Feb 21. PMID: 30690875; PMCID: PMC6396378.
- Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Cancer Control in Low- and Middle-Income Countries; Sloan FA, Gelband H, editors. Cancer Control Opportunities in Low- and Middle-Income Countries. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2007. 2, Cancer Causes and Risk Factors and the Elements of Cancer Control. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK54025/
- 4. Safaeian M, Solomon D, Castle PE. Cervical cancer prevention--cervical screening: science in evolution. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. 2007 Dec;34(4):739-60, ix. doi: 10.1016/j.ogc.2007.09.004. PMID: 18061867; PMCID: PMC2762353.
- 5. EUROPEAN COMMISSION, Europe's Beating Cancer Plan (2021). Available online: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/HTML/?uri=CELEX:52021DC0044&from=EN [accessed on 29 July 2024]
- 6. WHO. European Code Against Cancer (2013). Available online https://cancer-code-europe.iarc.fr/index.php/en/about-code [accessed on 29 July 2024]
- 7. Brodar KE, Carlisle V, Tang PY, Fisher EB. Identification and Characterization of Peer Support for Cancer Prevention and Care: A Practice Review. J Cancer Educ. 2022 Jun;37(3):645-654. doi: 10.1007/s13187-020-01861-8. PMID: 32892278; PMCID: PMC7474572.
- 8. Giles EL, Brennan M. Trading between healthy food, alcohol and physical activity behaviours. BMC Public Health. 2014 Nov 27;14:1231. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-1231. PMID: 25429981; PMCID: PMC4256747.
- 9. Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Assessing Interactions Among Social, Behavioral, and Genetic Factors in Health; Hernandez LM, Blazer DG, editors. Genes, Behavior, and the Social Environment: Moving Beyond the Nature/Nurture Debate. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2006. 2, The Impact of Social and Cultural Environment on Health. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK19924/
- 10. Mahalakshmi S, Suresh S. Barriers to Cancer Screening Uptake in Women: A Qualitative Study from Tamil Nadu, India. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2020 Apr 1;21(4):1081-1087. doi: 10.31557/APJCP.2020.21.4.1081. PMID: 32334474; PMCID: PMC7445965.
- 11. Ghebreyesus TA. Using behavioural science for better health. Bull World Health Organ. 2021 Nov 1;99(11):755. doi: 10.2471/BLT.21.287387. PMID: 34737465; PMCID: PMC8542276.

- 12. Davis R, Campbell R, Hildon Z, Hobbs L, Michie S. Theories of behaviour and behaviour change across the social and behavioural sciences: a scoping review. Health Psychol Rev. 2015;9(3):323-44. doi: 10.1080/17437199.2014.941722. Epub 2014 Aug 8. PMID: 25104107; PMCID: PMC4566873.
- 13. Bendowska A, Baum E. The Significance of Cooperation in Interdisciplinary Health Care Teams as Perceived by Polish Medical Students. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2023 Jan 5;20(2):954. doi: 10.3390/ijerph20020954. PMID: 36673710; PMCID: PMC9859360.
- 14. Michie S, West R, Sheals K, Godinho CA. Evaluating the effectiveness of behavior change techniques in health-related behavior: a scoping review of methods used. Transl Behav Med. 2018 Mar 1;8(2):212-224. doi: 10.1093/tbm/ibx019. PMID: 29381786; PMCID: PMC6062857.
- 15. Semrau M, Gronholm PC, Eaton J, Maulik PK, Ayele B, Bakolis I, Mendon GB, Bhattarai K, Brohan E, Cherian AV, Daniel M, Girma E, Gurung D, Hailemariam A, Hanlon C, Healey A, Kallakuri S, Li J, Loganathan S, Ma N, Ma Y, Metsahel A, Ouali U, Yaziji N, Zgueb Y, Zhang W, Zhang X, Thornicroft G, Votruba N. Reducing stigma and improving access to care for people with mental health conditions in the community: protocol for a multi-site feasibility intervention study (Indigo-Local). Res Sq [Preprint]. 2023 Aug 18:rs.3.rs-3237562. doi: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-3237562/v1. PMID: 37645946; PMCID: PMC10462245.
- Emmons KM, Gandelman E. Translating behavioral medicine evidence to public policy. J Behav Med. 2019 Feb;42(1):84-94. doi: 10.1007/s10865-018-9979-7. Epub 2019 Mar 1. PMID: 30825091; PMCID: PMC9701573.
- 17. Arellano, Lucía, Pau Alcubilla, and Lina Leguízamo. 2023. 'Ethical Considerations in Informed Consent'. Ethics Scientific Research, Ethical Issues, Artificial Intelligence and Education [Working Title]. IntechOpen. doi:10.5772/intechopen.1001319.
- 18. Alkureishi MA, Choo ZY, Rahman A, Ho K, Benning-Shorb J, Lenti G, Velázquez Sánchez I, Zhu M, Shah SD, Lee WW. Digitally Disconnected: Qualitative Study of Patient Perspectives on the Digital Divide and Potential Solutions. JMIR Hum Factors. 2021 Dec 15;8(4):e33364. doi: 10.2196/33364. PMID: 34705664; PMCID: PMC8675564.
- 19. Ryvicker M. A Conceptual Framework for Examining Healthcare Access and Navigation: A Behavioral-Ecological Perspective. Soc Theory Health. 2018 Aug;16(3):224-240. doi: 10.1057/s41285-017-0053-2. Epub 2017 Oct 23. PMID: 31007612; PMCID: PMC6474407.
- 20. Zhang Y, Xu P, Sun Q, Baral S, Xi L, Wang D. Factors influencing the e-health literacy in cancer patients: a systematic review. J Cancer Surviv. 2023 Apr;17(2):425-440. doi: 10.1007/s11764-022-01260-6. Epub 2022 Oct 3. PMID: 36190672; PMCID: PMC9527376.
- 21. Coughlin SS, Vernon M, Hatzigeorgiou C, George V. Health Literacy, Social Determinants of Health, and Disease Prevention and Control. J Environ Health Sci. 2020;6(1):3061. Epub 2020 Dec 16. PMID: 33604453; PMCID: PMC7889072.
- 22. van den Enden G, Geyskens K, Goukens C. Feeling well surrounded: Perceived societal support fosters healthy eating. J Health Psychol. 2024 Feb;29(2):113-122.

- doi: 10.1177/13591053231178093. Epub 2023 Jun 20. PMID: 37338136; PMCID: PMC10799535.
- 23. Gautam S, Jain A, Chaudhary J, Gautam M, Gaur M, Grover S. Concept of mental health and mental well-being, it's determinants and coping strategies. Indian J Psychiatry. 2024 Jan;66(Suppl 2):S231-S244. doi: 10.4103/indianjpsychiatry.indianjpsychiatry_707_23. Epub 2024 Jan 24. PMID: 38445271; PMCID: PMC10911315.
- 24. Tulchinsky TH, Varavikova EA. Expanding the Concept of Public Health. The New Public Health. 2014:43–90. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-415766-8.00002-1. Epub 2014 Oct 10. PMCID: PMC7170196.
- 25. Huang WY, Huang H, Wu CE. Physical Activity and Social Support to Promote a Health-Promoting Lifestyle in Older Adults: An Intervention Study. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2022 Nov 3;19(21):14382. doi: 10.3390/ijerph192114382. PMID: 36361256; PMCID: PMC9658453.
- 26. Huang WY, Huang H, Wu CE. Physical Activity and Social Support to Promote a Health-Promoting Lifestyle in Older Adults: An Intervention Study. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2022 Nov 3;19(21):14382. doi: 10.3390/ijerph192114382. PMID: 36361256; PMCID: PMC9658453.
- 27. Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Assuring the Health of the Public in the 21st Century. The Future of the Public's Health in the 21st Century. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2002. 2, Understanding Population Health and Its Determinants. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK221225/

Appendix

 Table 1. Correlation Analysis of Health Determinants in Europe

LF.	0.961267	0.981041	121012.0	0.970743	0.961041	121019.0	0.981041	0.981267	0.981267	0.970745	2910143	0.961841	0.961267	0.961267	2570743	0.590403	0.563441	0.961267	0.981041	0.591015	0.970743	
LF. SU	0.59943	41936514	0.960441	0.368441	A19969.4	0.368441	41000014	0.970743	0.99943	0.368441	0.368441	41336514	0.99843	0.99043	0.970743	0.95019	0.970743	0.99843	41000014	0.951103	1	0.970743
LF- PA	0.974211	0.990691	0.963073	0.562303	0.550691	0.563073	0.990691	0.991025	0.074211	0.962303	0.962203	0.550521	0.974211	0.974211	0.591025	0.562203	0.591025	0.974211	0.550521	1	0.962303	0.991025
LF.	0.952512	297076.0	0.952362	+141667	1770000	0.952362	297076.0	0.951041	0.981511	+141667	419866.0	8,978745	0.962512	0.982512	1901567	*1416670	1901061	0.962512	-	16316670	+141667	0.951041
PI- ILH	0.960441	0.962512	0.970124	5796670	0.962512	0.970124	0.962512	0.961267	0.560441	5796670	5796679	0.962512	0.960441	0.970743	0.981267	0.99843	0.961267		0.962512	0.974211	5796670	0.961267
FI- RA	0.981267	0.981041	T21079.0	0.970745	0.951041	727079.0	0.981041	0.568441	0.561267	0.970745	0.970743	0.561041	0.981267	0.981267	0.563441	0.998485		0.981267	0.561041	0.591015	0.970745	0.960441
PI- HPD	0.95042	+148450	0.960441	6102670	+148450	0.968441	+148450	0.999465	0.99043	6102619	6102610	0.998914	0.95043	0.99043	0.999462	-	0.990403	0.95043	+148450	0.952263	6102670	0.998463
Bit. BHP	0.981267	0.951841	781015.0	0.970745	0.951841	781015.0	0.951841	2910142	0.981267	0,970745	2,978743	0.951841	0.981267	0.981267		0.990403	0.968441	0.981267	0.951841	0.991015	0,970745	0.970745
BI- AMB	0.970743	0.952512	9370124	0.59043	0.952512	A210124	0.952512	1381167	2370762	0.59043	0.59843	0.952512	0.368441	-	0,351167	0.99043	0.951167	8,97874.5	0.952512	0.974111	0.59043	1921363
BI- EBI	1360441	0.962512	1010124	0.99843	2152367	P.370124	0.982512	1381167	136641	0.99843	2,99943	0.982512		0.360441	1311167	0.99843	1321363	0.360441	0.982512	0.974211	233042	0.951167
EF-	0.962511 0.	0.970743 0.	0.952382 0.	0.590314 0	0.970743	9 252567	0.563441 0.	0.9510+1 B	0.902511 0.	0.590914 0	+140650		0.962511	0.962511 0.	0.9810+1 0.	0.590914 0	0.961041 0.	0.962511 0.	0.970743 0.	0.590591 0.	0.590514 0	0.561041 0.
EF- EWB	0.59943 0.	0.930914 0.	0.00041	0.36841 0.	.0 +10066.0	0 199961	0 +169661	.0 257076.0	0.59045 0.	.0 237074.5	1	+1606610	0.59042 0.	0.59042 0.	.0 257076.0	0.96019 0.	.0 237076.0	0.59843 0.	0.930914 0.	.0 201105	0 199961	0 257076.0
Н						_				6.0											_	\dashv
EF- SCM	0.33043	0.590314	0.560441	0.970743	0.590314	0.560441	0.590914	0.970743	0.33043		0.970743	0.590314	0.33643	0.39643	0.970743	0.95019	0.970743	0.33643	0.590914	0.962283	0.560441	0.970745
EF- HFA	0.960441	0.951512	0.970124	0.59843	0.951512	A.978324	0.951512	0.951167	-	0.59843	0.59843	0.951512	0.368441	0.970743	0.951167	0.99843	0.951167	0.968441	0.951512	0.974111	0.59843	791186.0
EF. ARS	0.961267	0.951041	121075.0	0.970743	0.951041	121075.0	0.951041		0.961267	0.970743	0.970743	0.961041	0.961267	0.961267	0.970743	0.590483	0.560441	0.961267	0.951041	0.591025	0.970743	0.961267
EF- AHF	0.952512	134036.0	0.952362	4.99091.4	17702610	0.952362	-	0.951041	0.952512	4.9969.4	A19969.6	0.968441	0.952512	0.952512	0.951041	4.99091.4	190156-0	0.952512	2378742	1,99069.0	4.9969.4	0.951041
	0.970124	0.951382	0.960441	1999641	0.951382	1	0.951382	191016.0	0.970124	0.96641	0.965441	0.951382	0.978124	0.970124	787076.0	0.968441	19191616	0.978124	0.951382	0.963073	0.96641	1910161
SF.	0.983512	0.960441	0.951382	P-200014	1	0.953382	0.960441	0.951041	0.9815112	P1606619	\$1606E1	0.970743	0.963512	0.963512	0.951041	P1605619	0.951041	0.963512	0.360441	0.990891	P1200014	0.351041
SF-	0.99043	1,9966.0	0.960441	-	110066.0	0.960441	£19966.0	2570743	0.99943	0.970743	0.960441	£100000	0.99943	0.99943	0,970743	0.95019	0.970743	0.99943	1,990014	0.952303	0.960441	0.710743
CF.	4210124	0.952382	1	130041	0.953382	199957	0.952382	757076.0	6.9.TB124	1990641	199957	0.952382	6,978124	6,978124	79201619	1992610	191916.9	6,978124	0.952382	2,023,033	130041	19191619
中田	0.983512		0.952382	0.930914	0.36841	0.952383	0.36841	0.351041	11511511	P1006F0	6.336914	0.970743	0.982512	0.982512	0.351041	6.936914	0.951041	0.982512	6,970743	0.990091	6.936914	0.951041
유		0.962512	0.978124	0.93043	0.962512	0.979124	0.962512	0.961267	0.963441	0.33043	0.35043	0.962512	0.969441	0.970743	0.961267	0.93043	0.981267	0.963441	0.962512	0.974211	0.33043	0.981267
Correlatio n	CF-RP	CF-HL	CF-DM	SF-SSN	SF-CNP	SF-CE	EF-AHF	EF-ARS	EF-HFA	EF-SCM	EF-EWB	EF-PS	BI-EBI	BI-AMB	BI-BHP	PI-HPD	PI-RA	н-п-н	LF-DN	LF-PA	LF-SU	LF-SP

Table 2. Abbreviations in Table 1.

Abbreviation	Explanation
Cognitive Factors - Risk Perception and Communication	CF-RP
Cognitive Factors - Health Literacy	CF-HL
Cognitive Factors - Decision-Making Processes	CF-DM
Social Factors - Social Support Networks	SF-SSN
Social Factors - Cultural Norms and Practices	SF-CNP
Social Factors - Community Engagement	SF-CE
Environmental Factors - Accessibility to Healthy Foods	EF-AHF
Environmental Factors - Availability of Recreational Spaces	EF-ARS
Environmental Factors - Healthcare Facility Access	EF-HFA
Emotional Factors - Stress and Coping Mechanisms	EF-SCM
Emotional Factors - Emotional Well-Being	EF-EWB
Emotional Factors - Psychosocial Support	EF-PS
Behavioral Interventions - Effectiveness of Behavioral Interventions	BI-EBI
Behavioral Interventions - Adoption and Maintenance of Healthy Behaviors	BI-AMB
Behavioral Interventions - Behavioral Health Programs Participation	BI-BHP
Policy Implications - Health Policy Development	PI-HPD
Policy Implications - Resource Allocation	PI-RA
Policy Implications - Impact of Legislation on Health Behaviors	PI-ILH
Lifestyle Factors - Diet and Nutrition	LF-DN
Lifestyle Factors - Physical Activity	LF-PA
Lifestyle Factors - Substance Use	LF-SU
Lifestyle Factors - Sleep Patterns	LF-SP

Version history

Version	Description	Date completed
v1.0	First draft	26/11/2024
v2.0	Final version (consortium revision)	05/12/2024